



Expert Report 3

Building capabilities to drive health system improvements

Final 29 November 2024

This Expert Report was undertaken by the Sax Institute for the NSW Special Commission of Inquiry into Healthcare Funding.

Authors

This report was prepared by: Professor Luke Wolfenden¹, Professor Andrew Milat², Professor Don Nutbeam², Associate Professor Sarah Thackway³, Dr Martin McNamara³

Acknowledgements

Professor Kathryn Oliver⁴

1 University of Newcastle, 2 University of Sydney, 3 Sax Institute, 4 London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine

Suggested citation: Wolfenden L, Andrew Milat A, Nutbeam D, Thackway S, McNamara M. Building capabilities to drive health system improvements. Sax Institute, November 2024.

Disclaimer: This expert report was produced in response to specific questions from the NSW Special Commission of Inquiry into Healthcare Funding. It is not a comprehensive review of literature relating to the topic area and draws on expert opinion. It was current at the time of production (but not necessarily at the time of publication). It is reproduced for general information and third parties rely upon it at their own risk.

Contents

Key points	5
Introduction	
Overview	
The gap between evidence and practice – where are we now?	
Barriers to the integration of new evidence into health service delivery	
What are the key features of the NSW Health system for the generation and use of evidence? Office for Health and Medical Research	8
Funding schemes and support infrastructure	
Embedding evidence in health care in systematic and sustainable ways	11
Formal partnerships between research institutions and health services: Research Translation Centres	10
Priority Research Centres	
Building research and evaluation capability of the health workforce	15 S
and create 'implementation laboratories'	
Learnings, gaps, challenges for NSW Health	20
Strengthening capabilities in implementing innovations and using evidence in health services in NS	W
Opportunity 1: Facilitate research on system transformation	
Opportunity 2: Enhance collaborative research efforts at local levels Opportunity 3: Leverage strategic partnerships to drive translation	
References	23

Key points

The people of NSW would significantly benefit from a more explicit alignment of health system and research priorities, a greater emphasis on research translation and funding to support this, removal of barriers to enable timely access to large data assets and stronger and more transparent partnerships with the academic, non-government and community sectors.

Ensuring research, data and evidence are a core part of the NSW Health system will improve health outcomes, deliver innovative and effective models of care, drive health system efficiencies, help improve the morale of the health workforce and attract key clinician researchers.

- There are innovations and programs within NSW that, if implemented at scale, could improve health outcomes and create health system efficiencies. However, many of these exist in geographical pockets and are not widely implemented.
- Research can provide evidence of the effectiveness of innovations, but the systematic translation of research evidence into clinical practice needs to be implemented at scale across the health system to achieve maximal impact.
- A stronger alignment of research programs and research funding with health system priorities
 would improve impact of research outcomes by ensuring the findings are actionable and
 scalable.
- Implementing a portfolio approach to research funding and innovation is a key part of investing
 in research to ensure the outcomes are 'fit-for-purpose' and able to be scaled across NSW, if
 found to be effective.
- Priority research centres are one proven mechanism for generating policy-relevant research and advice in a timely fashion. These could be expanded to a broader range of health system priority areas.
- NSW could better maximise the benefits of existing partnerships with the academic and research sectors, including existing groups like Research Translational Centres (RTCs), to attract and secure Commonwealth funding to address state and local priorities.
- An important facilitator of evidence translation is the research and evaluation capability and data literacy of the health workforce. Ensuring sufficient resources and time for clinicians to undertake priority research is a critical enabler. Evidence has shown that participating in research enhances clinicians' attitudes towards research, increases uptake of research evidence into practice and results in better job satisfaction.
- Developing more streamlined access to linked health data and reducing administrative barriers to big data would provide researchers and clinicians with the core information to implement large-scale research and evaluations in a timelier way.

Introduction

- In formulating its recommendations, the Special Commission of Inquiry into Healthcare Funding (the Inquiry) is interested in the capabilities required to drive health system improvements.
- 2. To inform the deliberations of the Inquiry, the Sax Institute was commissioned to provide expert advice on:
 - a) Building the capability to translate and adopt effective local innovations and new models of care
 - b) Ensuring that decision-making is informed by the best available evidence.

Overview

- 3. In many high-income countries, health systems and the quality of health care have been described as being 'in crisis'.¹ Like many countries, Australia's healthcare system is challenged by growing rates of chronic and emerging diseases, ageing populations, inequities in service access and health outcomes, and rising costs.² In Australia, healthcare spending as a percentage of GDP continues to grow and may double over the period 2010–2050.³
- 4. There are many existing policies and programs that are capable of alleviating much of the disease burden.⁴ Yet, despite the potential benefits, the translation of effective innovations into clinical practice or health policies and programs often fails.
- 5. Even when translation efforts are successful, interventions are rarely implemented at scale across health systems, which is required to achieve widespread impact.^{5,6} As a result, while new evidence-based knowledge has proliferated, health benefits have not occurred at the same pace or scale.⁷

The gap between evidence and practice – where are we now?

- 6. Currently, there is considerable variation in the quality of care provided across the Australian healthcare system.⁸ Research and innovation occurs in pockets, where the necessary leadership and enabling workforce and infrastructure has been established.^{9,10}
- 7. There have been significant efforts from health services, health system managers, research funders and researchers over recent decades to close evidence-practice gaps in health care. Despite these efforts, the gap has been stubbornly persistent not only in Australia, but also in the United States and England, leading to what Braithwaite and colleagues describe as the 60-30-10 Challenge: 13
 - 60% of care (on average) is in line with clinical guidelines and best evidence
 - 30% is low or no value care
 - 10% is harmful.
- 8. Of the innovations in health care that have been proven to benefit patients, only 14% end up being embedded and it takes an average of 17 years to do so.¹⁴ The poor rate of translation of beneficial interventions into routine clinical practice and the time it takes to occur comes at a cost to patients, communities, society and the health system.

- 9. Bridging the evidence-practice gap is a critical challenge for health systems that must respond to relentless change in technology and the evidence on which health care is based, coupled with internal and external pressures and changing fiscal contexts¹⁵. The sheer volume of change in health systems is also accelerating with advances in precision medicine, genomics, new generation drugs, artificial intelligence, and brain sciences, which are all at different stages of development and uptake in health care systems.^{16,17} To illustrate, a recent study suggests that research is making around 7% of 'best practice' obsolete each year.¹⁸
- 10. There is an urgent need for a conceptual leap in our understanding of how healthcare systems respond to these challenges. Braithwaite and colleagues suggest we need to marry ideas drawn from complexity science, data science and continuous improvement with proposals for creating a learning health system. This dynamic learning model has the potential to assemble relevant information including patients' histories, and clinical, patient, laboratory, and cost data for improved decision-making in real time, or close to real time.¹⁹
- 11. A learning health system of this kind in NSW will require collaborative effort and clear role delineation across the NSW Ministry of Health, Pillar organisations, Local Health Districts and specialty networks. It will also require a plan to improve key elements of learning health systems, including practice data collection and management systems; workforce development and learning communities, and effective governance and organisation processes.²⁰
- 12. To illustrate, the Single Digital Patient Record (SDPR) program will need to be a central pillar of a learning health system in NSW.²¹ The SDPR will unify access to patient clinical information in one view. This will help to provide connected, transparent and safe care for any person at any public healthcare setting statewide. It could be a tool to integrate the latest evidence into clinical decision-making and has the potential to be used as a platform for research and quality improvement.

Barriers to the integration of new evidence into health service delivery

- 13. Translating evidence into sustained system-wide change in complex health systems is not a simple or linear process.^{22,23} The barriers to evidence use are well established in the literature and we already know a lot about how to address them.
- 14. Systemic barriers can include: 24,25,26,27,28,29
 - Organisational and professional silos that are resistant to change
 - Pervasive competition
 - Lack of collaboration
 - Failure to engage relevant end users in research that results in research disconnected from the realities of clinical practice
 - Gaps in the necessary capacity and capability to undertake translational research and successfully implement changes in health policy and practice
 - Time consuming bureaucratic processes.
- 15. NSW Health has significant data holdings, and these assets have been linked to a wide range of additional data across Human Service Agencies, Primary Health Networks and research data sets such as biobanks and the <u>45 and Up Study</u>. There is a wealth of information in these data assets that remains untapped, but that could be used to deliver actionable insights. Access to the data assets by researchers can be opaque and the process time consuming, using legacy data governance policies, thus limiting the ability of researchers to deliver actionable insights in a timely manner.

16. Importantly, the translation of research evidence into better health care appears more likely when it is connected to the needs and priorities of health services.³⁰

International perspectives

- 17. The importance of aligning research with policy and practice has been known for decades. To address this in 2003, the US National Institutes of Health published a *Roadmap for Medical Research* to accelerate the adoption of scientific discoveries into health policy and clinical practice through better prioritisation of research, supporting collaboration and partnerships between researchers and health services.³¹
- 18. In the United Kingdom, the Office for Strategic Coordination of Health Research was established following a landmark review of health and medical research that identified a range of cultural, institutional and financial barriers to research translation in the country.³²
- 19. These events were followed by substantive modifications to research funding schemes and infrastructure to support research collaboration and translation in the United Kingdom, United States and elsewhere. Evaluations of more applied, translation-focused research funding initiatives in Canada revealed they had greater impact on measures of knowledge translation and produced equivalent academic outputs (publications) than traditional open calls for research grants per dollar invested.³³
- 20. Some countries also established translation centres, entities designed to build clinician research capacity and engage health systems and their staff in research to improve healthcare and patient outcomes. Examples include Collaborations for Leadership in Applied Health Research and Care (CLAHRCs), funded by the UK National Institute for Health and Care Research (NIHR). While translation centres have numerous case studies of impact,³⁴ quantification of their benefit requires further evaluation.³⁵
- 21. In Australia, the landmark McKeon Strategic Review of Health and Medical Research was published in 2013.³⁶ It was commissioned to advance a vision where health and medical research is:

...fully embedded in all aspects of health care to deliver: 'Better Health Through Research' and achieve the aspiration for Australia to build and maintain the world's best and most efficient health system.

- 22. The report recognised the disconnect between research enterprise and patient and health system needs. It made a range of recommendations including those aimed at embedding research in the health system (e.g. health workforce development, leadership and governance, clinical trial infrastructure); supporting priority driven research (e.g. national research rarities, dedicated research funding); and maintaining research excellence (e.g. research workforce development; building enabling infrastructure).
- 23. A range of national initiatives followed the publication of the McKeon Review. The most notable was the establishment of the Medical Research Future Fund (MRFF), which provides long-term strategic funding for translational research in Australia.³⁷ The scheme operates a perpetual fund, drawing on income generated from a government endowment, and supports a range of schemes aligned with research priorities over five-year investment plans.³⁸

- 24. Significant changes were also made to National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC) research funding, including new schemes with an explicit focus on research priorities, supporting workforce development, partnerships and research translation including funding for 'Partnership Projects' and 'Centres for Research Excellence'.³⁹
- 25. The Commonwealth Government also established and accredited:
 - Advanced Health Research Translation Centres (AHRTCs), to bring together hospital
 academic institutions and health service providers to accelerate the translation of
 research into health practice. These are now referred to as RTCs.
 - Centres for Innovation in Regional Health (CIRH), which have a similar function though focused on rural and regional Australia.⁴⁰
- 26. Three such centres exist within NSW: Sydney Health Partners⁴¹ and Maridulu Budyari Gumal the Sydney Partnership for Health, Education Research and Enterprise⁴² (both RTCs), and NSW Regional Health Partners (a CIRH).⁴³

What are the key features of the NSW Health system for the generation and use of evidence?

- 27. In NSW, recognition of the need to better align research with efforts to improve the efficiency and impact of health services became evident more than 30 years ago as part of the NSW Health Outcomes Initiative.⁴⁴
- 28. A notable shift in government action also occurred following the 2012 NSW Health and Medical Research Strategic Review. The review acknowledged the value of research for the NSW Health system and the state's economy more broadly, and was enacted, in part, because NSW was attracting less than its population share of NHMRC funding at the time.⁴⁵
- 29. The review recommended the NSW Government undertake activities aligned with the virtuous cycle (a continuous gain of knowledge) and two broad strategies, many consistent with those to be recommended in the McKeon Review. First, fostering translation and innovation from research (e.g. leadership, clinical trials, supporting venture capital); and second, building globally relevant research capacity (e.g. via research hubs, workforce development, research infrastructure).⁴⁶

Office for Health and Medical Research

- 30. The Office for Health and Medical Research (OHMR) was established to implement the key findings of the NSW Health and Medical Research Strategic Review. 47,48 It has since achieved each of the key actions outlined in the NSW Government's response to the review. Namely, it has overseen:
 - Significant changes to the Medical Research Support program that provides critical research infrastructure for the sector
 - The establishment of the Medical Devices fund, offering grants of up to \$5 million to facilitate the development of new technologies⁴⁹
 - The establishment of 'Research Hubs' to foster collaboration and coordinate the activities of Medical Research Institutes, Local Health Districts Universities and Medicare Locals
 - The establishment of a research capacity-building program.

- 31. Further, OHMR now provides a range of other vital services and infrastructure including:
 - A range of research funding schemes, such as the Translation Research Grant Scheme to provide funding for priority research for the state that can be directly implemented at scale, thus significantly reducing the time from evidence generation to impact
 - The purpose-built, state-of-the-art NSW Health Statewide Biobank supports clinical research by storing biospecimens and linking the information to historical personal health information, providing unique access to information to identify and improve prevention diagnosis, support precision medicine and treatment of life-threatening illness
 - A Clinical Trial Management System
 - Initiatives to strengthen and streamline research ethics and governance.

Agency for Clinical Innovation

- 32. The Agency for Clinical Innovation (ACI) was established in 2010. The ACI partners with the NSW Ministry of Health, Local Health Districts, clinicians, consumers and other stakeholders to achieve better value in health care through innovative models of care and by improving the experience and outcomes of healthcare services.⁵⁰ It has contributed to a number of significant improvements in patient care, including those leading to the establishment of Stroke Reperfusion services across NSW,⁵¹ and the expansion of telehealth and virtual care.⁵²
- 33. ACI also has a critical role in supporting the integration of evidence and innovation into the NSW health system. It fosters research translation via a range of strategies including supporting more than 40 clinical networks; establishing a clinical redesign program to facilitate the use of evidence in improving health care; a small grants scheme; and platforms including the ACI Innovation Exchange that support health services to share innovations and research findings across the health system.⁵³

Funding schemes and support infrastructure

- 34. NSW supports a broad portfolio of research funding schemes and research infrastructure, including:
- 35. **NSW Medical Research Support Program**:⁵⁴ Provides critical infrastructure funding (up to \$40 million per annum) to independent medical research institutes to cover some of the indirect costs associated with medical research with the aim of supporting research excellence. The funding provides opportunities for investment in critical medical research equipment, technologies, and human resource.
- 36. **Priority research centres and services**: NSW Health currently funds research institutions designed to undertake research considered of priority by the health system, or to provide speciality expertise and capacity to support research translation. For example, NSW Health supports research centres in Blood Borne Virus and Sexually Transmitted Infections. The Sax Institute is commissioned to support the use of high-quality evidence and insights to guide decision-making. The Sax Institute focuses on improving health and wellbeing by driving the use of research in policies, programs and services. It works collaboratively to embed evidence into policies, programs and services by developing, testing and delivering best practice approaches to working at the interface of research and health decision-making. Typically, this work involves synthesising evidence, undertaking complex modelling and developing approaches to measure the effectiveness of interventions and policy change.

- 37. **Medical Research Institutes, Translational Research Centres and other centres:**Provide infrastructure to support local improvement initiatives. For example, the Hunter Medical Research Institute⁵⁶ brings together the University of Newcastle and the Hunter New England Local Health District, providing a number of accessible 'platforms' (e.g. health economics, biostatistics, etc) and equipment (biobanking, imaging, etc) to support research and local innovations.
- 38. **Research funding**: NSW supports several research schemes to undertake priority research for the health system. The schemes foster partnerships between researchers and NSW Health and/or Local Health Districts and have been found to be effective in facilitating innovation and impact. For example, the Translational Research Grants Scheme⁵⁷ was designed to support practitioner-led research that can be directly translated into practice in the state. Similarly, the Prevention Research Support Program⁵⁸ funding is awarded to build capacity and support prevention research aligned to NSW Health priorities. The scheme provides stability and flexibility and supports translation activities not possible via other funding schemes.^{59,60}
- 39. Clinical Trial Management System (CTMS): NSW has a statewide CTMS available to support the conduct of all clinical trials in NSW public health organisations and provides an online repository for clinical trial management, supporting better and supports hospitals meet accreditation obligations under the National Clinical Trials Governance Framework.⁶¹

Case example 1: Investment in clinical researchers

NSW Health has a number of schemes to support clinician researchers, including the Early-Mid Career Grant program designed to support front line researchers by providing grants of up to \$500,000 over 3 years for salary, professional development and research costs.

The initiative has been found to yield a range of beneficial impacts to health care, policy, community and the economy. For example, the return on investment was almost \$7 for every dollar in NSW funding; the scheme produced 44% greater publication yield that similar career stage researchers; 30% of projects led to policy changes and 46% to research or health practice change in NSW.⁶²

Case example 2: Sax Institute

In 2021 and 2022, the Sax Institute worked with hospitals across NSW to develop a sophisticated modelling tool to support decisions in managing COVID-19.

The tool drew on the emerging evidence base and simulated the movement of patients through 25 hospitals in NSW during a surge in COVID-19 cases. It showed the impact of COVID-19 across the hospital, including emergency departments and intensive care units as well as on the number of surgeries performed and elective surgery waitlists.

The project involved bringing together a large amount of data from 25 hospitals and consultations with clinicians and hospital managers to consider their priorities and where additional evidence was needed. Discrete event simulation technology – which models a system over time as a series of separate events – was then used to investigate different scenarios.

Multiple COVID-19 scenarios were tested with varying levels of patient numbers and severity of illness. Hospital responses to these scenarios were also tested, to see how the impact of a COVID-19 wave could be minimised by reducing or outsourcing elective surgeries or increasing the hospital beds available to patients leaving the emergency department.

Embedding evidence in health care in systematic and sustainable ways

- 40. In recent years, there have been several attempts from health organisations, researcher funders, and research organisations to better embed evidence in health care in more systematic and sustainable ways by matching health system needs and priorities with researcher capacity. 63,64,65,66
- 41. At a more local level, interventions to support effective research translation have included greater engagement between researchers and decision makers, 67, 68, 69 improving access to research findings, 70 and skills development for translation among researchers and users of research. 71,72

Research funding that targets health system priorities

- 42. In recognition of the need to close the evidence-practice gap in health service delivery, the past decade has seen the introduction of more focused research funding programs targeting health system priorities, for example, through the NIHR in the UK,⁷³ Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality in the United States⁷⁴ and the MRFF in Australia.⁷⁵ The NHMRC has also provided policy and practice focused research funding through its Partnership grants scheme.⁷⁶
- 43. In NSW, there are several research funding schemes with an explicit focus on research translation of population health and health services research including the Translational Research Grant Scheme (TRGS)⁷⁷ and Prevention Research Support Program (PRSP).⁷⁸
- 44. The TRGS aims to reduce the time between research generation and translation to policy and practice. The TRGS is also an important part of NSW Health's efforts to harness and strengthen research capacity to improve health service delivery.
- 45. A review of the initial funding rounds of TRGS found that the scheme has been successful in supporting health services-led research and enhanced a culture of inquiry and innovation within the NSW Health system. The requirement for links with clinical and policy networks at the outset of TRGS and throughout the research project appears to have further embedded research within the NSW health system.⁷⁹
- 46. The PRSP supports NSW research organisations that conduct prevention and early intervention research that aligns with NSW Health priorities. The objectives of the PRSP are to: increase high-quality and internationally recognised prevention research in NSW; support the generation of research evidence that addresses NSW Health prevention priorities, including cross-government priorities; encourage the adoption of research evidence in relevant policies, programs and services in NSW; and build the prevention research capability of NSW Health staff.
- 47. PRSP funding recipients demonstrate considerable increases over time on several indicators of research excellence, including peer-reviewed journal publications, grant income, and research students supervised. Recipients use a range of strategies to ensure dialogue with health system partners, and report research impacts at the local, state, national and international levels.
- 48. PRSP funding also supports the development of research capability. The PRSP is a unique scheme that is highly valued by both funding recipients and health system stakeholders. 81 The continuity of funding provided under the scheme enables recipients to

- adopt a strategic approach to their research and develop innovative strategies to support its conduct and use.
- Evaluations of the PRSP suggest that it has increased research productivity (e.g. publications), training (e.g. student supervision) and policy and practice impacts/improvements across NSW.⁸²

Engaging clinicians, health decision makers and consumers in identifying research priorities

- 50. Involving stakeholders including clinicians, health decision makers, consumers and researchers in an explicit manner in research priority setting can help to ensure that funding decisions and research meet critical evidence gaps to inform decision-making; facilitate shared responsibility and accountability in implementing the research agenda; improve the relevance and legitimacy of research; and contributes to achieving better health outcomes.^{83, 84, 85, 86}
- 51. Despite the potential benefits, research priority setting is not widely adopted in practice and the choice of research topics tends to reflect the priorities and requirements of agencies that award peer-reviewed research grants, the curiosity and interests of individual researchers, or clinical trial opportunities led by industry.⁸⁷
- 52. Although some of the national and local strategies have sought to re-orient research to health priorities, the motivations and incentives for researchers to respond to the more immediate priorities of those responsible for health services delivery remain limited.⁸⁸
- 53. At the same time, interviews with local health service executives in NSW including chief executives, directors of medical services, nursing, allied health, research and others in executive leadership roles, have found that they value research, but want more research that aligns with their needs and priorities. The authors concluded that making research a more integrated part of health care will require strong and broad executive leadership, resources and infrastructure, and investing in capacity- and capability building across health clinicians, managers and executive staff.
- 54. Encouragingly, NSW Health has developed a practical guidance on how to conduct research prioritisation, 90 but there is little evidence of its broad application in practice. Effective research priority setting requires a commitment of time and resources to identify priorities and for these priorities to inform decision-making about the types of research that health organisations will fund, commission or support.

Formal partnerships between research institutions and health services: Research Translation Centres

- 55. Recent years have seen a proliferation of formal partnerships between research institutions and healthcare organisations through Academic Health Science Centres (AHSCs) in North America and the United Kingdom and, more recently, through the NHMRC-accredited RTCs in Australia.⁹¹
- 56. These entities have been established with the explicit purpose of increasing the translation of research into clinical practice.⁹²

- 57. A unique feature of the RTCs in Australia is that they have developed a national alliance the Australian Health Research Alliance (AHRA). The Australian Federal and state governments have since invested in these RTCs across the AHRA.
- 58. The NSW-based RTCs work independently and together to drive improvements in health services and research across NSW in collaboration with health service partners. At inception, these RTCs were funded by the NHMRC and now they are funded from contributions from Local Health Districts, university partners and affiliated medical research institutes.
- 59. RTCs have great potential as vehicle to operationalise learning health systems and a place where priority research can be implemented through established governance structures with health service partners.

Case example 3: The learning health system

First identified as an important approach to delivering effective health care by the US Institute of Medicine in 2007, a learning health system is one where '...science, informatics, incentives, and culture are aligned for continuous improvement and innovation, with best practices seamlessly embedded in the delivery process and new knowledge captured as an integral by-product of the delivery experience'. ^{93,94}

Learning health systems recognise the considerable potential within health systems for discovery and improvement by leveraging clinical expertise, knowledge and innovation as well as vast amounts of clinical and healthcare data. 95

An effective learning health system uses data-driven approaches to efficiently build knowledge for health system improvement. It does this by undertaking research with and within health and services as part of business-as-usual, leveraging expertise and resources to facilitate innovation, safety, quality and value in health care.

Within a learning health system, health services recognise key knowledge gaps, integrate research methods into their usual practice to address them, and use the findings to improve care and patient outcomes. Often, this is operationalised through 'learning cycles' such as plan-do-study-act cycles. ⁹⁶ This integrated process eliminates the 'translation lag' as research is conducted in contexts where it is immediately applied.

Optimally, learning health systems are multilevel, where efforts to improve health care are coordinated and support improvement at an individual (clinician), service team, organisation, community and policy level. 97 They support innovation and knowledge generation 'bench' to 'bedside' through a range of basic science, clinical trials, implementation and dissemination research. 98

Case example 4: Sydney Health Partners

Sydney Health Partners (SHP) is an RTC established in 2015 by a consortium of partners to build research translation capacity within health services, enhance adoption of evidence-based practices, and improve the health of patients and communities.

Health service partners include four major health services (Sydney, Nepean Blue Mountains, Northern Sydney, and Western Sydney Local Health Districts and the Sydney Children's Hospital Network at Westmead), 10 affiliated medical research institutes, and the University of Sydney, which is the administering institution. The reach of SHP is substantial, with health service partners covering 3.1 million people living in greater Sydney, representing 34% of the NSW population.

The partnership conducts translational and implementation research across this network. SHP prioritises action in four operational areas: i) supporting people by capacity and capability building, ii) optimising innovation by linking promising ideas to clinical priorities identified by its health partners; iii) enabling research by streamlining research governance and data sharing, and supporting consumer involvement and clinical trials; and iv) advancing the science of research translation to improve patient outcomes. Together, the partnership is advancing the development and practical application of a learning health system, where local information is integrated with research evidence to improve health outcomes.⁹⁹

SHP delivers practical support for research translation through its 12 Clinical Academic Groups, which combine the expertise of clinicians, academics, health services professionals and consumers across its partner organisations. Their structure and focus on research translation enables them to be distinctive from, and add value to, existing collaborative research groups and networks among our partners. The Clinical Academic Groups provide a unique mechanism for the delivery of health service priorities and capacity-building activities within the larger health and medical research community. They cover major health priorities (cancer, cardiovascular health, child and adolescent health, diabetes and obesity, musculoskeletal health and sleep health); health service priorities (child development and mental health, geriatric care of the frail elderly, perioperative care of surgical patients, reproductive, maternal and newborn health); and innovations in health care (genomics and precision medicine, virtual care). Each Clinical Academic Group is funded through partners' financial commitment to SHP to undertake research translation capacity-building activities and to undertake proof of concept work that will position the group to apply for larger competitive grants.

SHP has an established track record in supporting the development, testing, transfer and scale up of health services innovations of proven effectiveness. To illustrate, the Sydney Health Partners Emergency Department (SHaPED) trial slashed opioid prescriptions by 12% for low back pain by implementing the ACI evidence-based model of care with emergency department clinicians across 4 hospitals. These results were sustained three years after the intervention was introduced and the model of care is being further expanded across NSW.^{100, 101}

SHP has also built a research-enabling program of clinical trials support, consumer and community involvement, and streamlined ethics, governance and data sharing processes through a Data Sharing Accord. The partnership has also funded the creation of the Implementation Science Academy (ISA) that trains clinicians and researchers in implementation science methods through its Implementation Science Masterclass, seminar series and drop in sessions, and also funds pilot research grants in partner health services. The ISA has provided pathway for testing innovations and building partner capability in implementation science supporting over 100 research projects in partner organisations. In partner organisations.

Priority Research Centres

60. Formal research collaborations between researchers and policy agencies, otherwise known as 'Priority Research Centres', have been shown to be effective in generating policy-relevant research, particularly when policy agency funders drive the strategic directions of research programs to deliver on priority outcomes.^{105,106,107,108}

- 61. The NSW Ministry Health has historically funded several Priority Research Centres, including the Physical Activity, Nutrition and Obesity Research Group, 109 The Australian Prevention Partnership Centre, 110 and the Blood Borne Viruses & Sexually Transmitted Infections Research, Intervention and Strategic Evaluation Program (BRISE). 111
- 62. Priority Research Centres provide a coherent and integrated research program that delivers policy-relevant research, strategic advice, capacity building and communications. 112, 113,114
- 63. Priority Research Centres are a proven mechanism to facilitate the co-production of research, where researchers and policy makers are meaningfully involved in all stages of research priority setting and codesign from development to application, building an understanding of the way evidence is generated to allow for greater integration between research and use of evidence.^{115, 116,117} These collaborations also play an important role in building research literacy and capability of policy teams involved in co-producing research with academics.⁹⁴⁻⁹⁸

Case example 5: Blood Borne Viruses & Sexually Transmitted Infections Research, Intervention and Strategic Evaluation Program (BRISE)

BRISE has five key objectives: generate high-quality research; maximise the use of research; build research capacity; communication and marketing; and governance and management.

BRISE activities engage a range of researchers with experience in HIV, STI or viral hepatitis from the University of NSW, with each BRISE research project being jointly managed by a policy officer from the NSW Ministry of Health. All projects are overseen by a project committee including organisations who represent affected communities and clinicians where appropriate.

This structure provides an opportunity for policy officers to codesign the research project from development to application, building a closer understanding of the way evidence is generated to allow for a greater integration between research and use of evidence.

BRISE supports research projects of policy relevance, including the Evaluation of the NSW Dried Blood Spot HIV and HCV Testing Pilot Program and The HIV Stigma Discovery Project.

BRISE reports and research findings are disseminated through different approaches including peer-reviewed academic journals and conference presentations, but also through policy exchanges. The BRISE website hosts a list of projects and publicly available reports (www.brise.com.au/projects). Each year, BRISE hosts a series of interactive symposiums with practitioners and policy makers to showcase research and how it is being used in practice.

Building research and evaluation capability of the health workforce

- 64. An important facilitator of research translation is the research and evaluation capability of the health workforce. 118 Participating in research enhances clinicians' attitudes towards research, 119 increases uptake of research evidence into practice, 120 helps to develop critical thinking skills and a culture of evidence-based practice 121 and clinicians who participate in research experience greater job satisfaction. 122
- 65. Research capacity building is defined as 'a process of developing sustainable abilities and skills enabling individuals and organisations to perform high-quality research'. 123 Elements

for successful research and evaluation capacity building include: a tailored strategies based on needs assessment, an organisational commitment to research and evaluation, opportunities for experiential learning, training with a practical element, and some form of ongoing technical support within the workplace.¹²⁴

- 66. There are several important strategies in place in NSW Health to support research and evaluation capability, including providing access to research literature for clinicians and policy makers through the Clinical Information Access Portal (CIAP). CIAP provides information and resources to support evidence-based practice at the point of care. CIAP is available to all nurses, midwives, doctors, allied health, community health, and ancillary staff working in or for NSW public health system including students. CIAP provides clinicians with information to support patient care processes and enhance clinical decision-making. However, CIAP does not provide complete access to full text articles.
- NSW Health also provides access to research syntheses and strategic research through its Critical Intelligence Unit (CIU). The CIU was developed during the COVID-19 pandemic as a mechanism for rapid evidence synthesis within NSW Health. 126 Outputs of the CIU include evidence digests, rapid evidence checks and living evidence tables. These products have been widely disseminated and used to inform policy decisions in NSW Health, making valuable impacts. 127 The Sax Institute also conducts reviews of evidence for NSW Health through its Evidence Check program. 128
- 68. NSW Health has produced and disseminated best practice guides to assist health policy makers, practitioners and researchers to commission, undertake and use policy and practice-relevant research. Guides focus on a wide range of topics including program logic, commissioning evaluations, commissioning economic evaluations, research priority setting, scale up and study design. There is great potential to increase the use of these resources and associated training across NSW Health.
- 69. NSW Health Pillar organisations also provide a wide range of tools and resources aimed at building the capability of NSW Health workforce to conduct research and evaluation, develop and implement evidence-based models of care and conduct quality improvement initiatives.
- 70. ACI provides guidance on implementation of new models of care through its Implementation Guide Putting a model into practice' guide and offers training in Accelerating Implementation Methodology (AIM) as well as a Graduate Certificate in Health Care Redesign. 130
- 71. The Clinical Excellence Commission (CEC) provides a range of quality improvement toolkits that support local healthcare teams to start and sustain quality improvement projects focusing on clinical areas where the risk of harm is well recognised.
- The Health Education and Training Institute (HETI) offers a broad range of online training modules in research, research ethics, program evaluation, quality improvement and implementation methods. HETI also offers the Rural Research Capacity Building Program, which aims to increase the number of rural and remote health workers with knowledge and skills in evaluation and research methods in order to contribute to both innovation and evidence-based practice in rural and remote health care.
- 73. Maximising health system performance requires investment in developing and enabling its workforce.¹³¹ This includes developing, acquiring or partnering to ensure the availability of a diverse skill set across the health system needed for developing and scaling-up of health innovations.

- 74. Health system leaders cite the need for healthcare staff to be data literate, ¹³² and to understand the role of data in driving healthcare improvements. ¹³³
- 75. Embedding staff with highly skilled analytical, evidence synthesis and data management skills within various levels of a health system and those (such as clinical academics) who can bring together different disciplines to support innovation and the application of evidence to health care has also been suggested.¹³⁴
- 76. Formal partnerships and collaborations with academic institutions are also seen as critical, providing access to specialist skills and other infrastructure and equipment. 135
- 77. Workforce development includes fostering a culture of continuous learning, collaboration and adaptability, and enabling innovation and improvement by providing sufficient time and resources. This may include articulation of the role of innovation, research and evidence in achieving health system objectives (vision); inclusion of this in organisational strategic plans, leadership responsibilities, and providing dedicated time, personnel and resources to support such activities. However, it is important to recognise that lack of time is consistently cited by clinicians as a major barrier to continuous learning. In line with learning health system principles, health services can enhance continuous learning for clinicians by integrating training into daily workflows with flexible, accessible resources; providing structured time for professional development; fostering a culture that values learning; and establishing regular feedback mechanisms to support knowledge sharing. 139,140,141,142
- 78. Demonstration of the relationship between these activities and improvements to patient outcomes is also important to secure the engagement of healthcare staff, and establish supportive professional norms. For example, an explicit and shared methodology and culture of continuous quality improvement (e.g. plan-do-study-act) is seen as a foundational component of Kaiser Permanente.
- 79. Common strategies to build workforce capacity to support innovation, and the generation and application of evidence within health systems, include training and mentoring; networks and communities of practice; and developing clinician scientists.

Training and mentoring

- 80. Training programs ensure researchers and healthcare staff have the necessary skills, knowledge and tools to understand, generate, interpret and apply evidence and research. Mentoring provides more individualised guidance from those with experience to help navigate professional challenges.
- 81. Workforce development may also be supported through identifying the training needs of the workforce; incentivising knowledge and skill acquisition, for example by including it in position descriptions, mandatory training, and performance reviews; and providing training opportunities.
- 82. A range of high-quality training or professional development opportunities are available in NSW. The Sydney Health Partners' Implementation Science Academy provides a masterclass program that includes mentored training to approximately 40 researchers, clinicians, and staff of the NSW ACI and CEC aimed at supporting the conduct and use of research to improve the translation of research into practice.¹⁴⁵
- 83. NHMRC Centres of Research Excellence (CRE), a number of which are NSW-based, have an explicit focus on supporting research translation and workforce development. For example, the National Centre of Implementation Science provides training across NSW LHDs to improve health promotion research and practice. It hosts the annual US National

- Cancer Institute-developed mentored training program in implementation science for researchers and clinicians. 146
- 84. NSW Health provides training to its workforce through its online e-Learning platform (HETI), and face-to-face education programs including initiatives to support quality improvement. It also supports a range of training programs, including the NSW Public Health Trainee program. 147,148

Networks and communities of practice

- 85. Networks and communities of practice provide opportunities for knowledge exchange between those with a common interest. Reviews demonstrate they are effective in improving healthcare quality and safety. 149,150
- 86. While professional networks provide expanded professional contacts and facilitate collaboration and learning, communities of practice provide a more focused form of engagement dedicated to collective problem-solving, and formal processes of exchange. Both provide a critical function in health systems to support the establishment and evolution of professional standards and norms, develop culture and facilitate learning.
- 87. A broad range of research-practice networks exist in NSW, often organised by specialty. For example, the NSW Cancer Institute and NSW Regional Health Partners supports the NSW Regional Cancer Research Network to improve cancer outcomes in rural and regional NSW.¹⁵¹
- 88. The Research in Practice Network brings together physiotherapists, researchers and other stakeholders to advance innovation and improve care. 152
- 89. ACI also supports communities of practice that seek to foster research translation and practice improvement. 153,154

Clinician researchers

- 90. Clinician researchers hold a unique place within the health system, given their expertise in research and responsibilities for providing health care. The duality in their roles can help them identify opportunities for research and innovation to improve care and patient outcomes.
- 91. For example, controlling for technological, scientific and individual factors, licensed inventions (e.g. drug discoveries) are more likely to originate from clinician researchers than traditional academia; and teams led by clinician researchers are more likely to develop therapeutic innovations. ^{155, 156} Clinician researchers may also be better equipped to identify health interventions that can more feasibly be adopted and integrated into health systems.
- 92. Having clinical or health practitioner researchers in positions of leadership has been identified as critical to improvements in health system performance.¹⁵⁷ As such, high performing health systems internationally invest in the development of clinician researchers.¹⁵⁸
- 93. In recognition of the importance of clinical researchers in health system performance, the Australian Department of Health and Aged Care recently announced the creation of the Clinician Researchers initiative, which will provide \$200 million over 10 years between 2024–25 and 2033–34 for healthcare professionals to carry out research projects 159. This scheme presents an opportunity for NSW Health to strengthen its clinician research

workforce and to engage NSW-based clinician researchers in answering questions of system significance.

Leveraging strategic research partnerships to attract research funding to NSW Health priorities and create 'implementation laboratories'

- 94. Research-practice partnerships provide opportunities for NSW Health to leverage the intellectual and financial resources of both universities and health services to simultaneously achieve scientific, service delivery and policy objectives. These partnerships differ from Priority Research Centres as they are not formal contracts for service. Rather, they are time-limited partnerships driven by common research interests and mutual benefit. These partnerships provide a vehicle for attracting state and national funding for research that is aligned with NSW Health system priorities.
- 95. Large initiatives such as RTCs have been successful in attracting significant MRFF and NHMRC research funding, however, the creation of research-practice partnerships remains elusive across the NSW health system.¹⁶⁰

Case example 6: Embedding researchers within health services

A novel approach to embedding university researchers in health service organisations that has improved research translation and health service performance and attracted significant research funding is a 15-year partnership between the University of Newcastle and Hunter New England Local Health District Population Health.

Central to the success of the partnership has been the embedding of researchers in the health service organisational facilities, processes, and structures resulting in an integration of research and service delivery initiatives.¹⁶¹

The Hunter New England Local Health District have created a learning health systems approach to implement chronic disease prevention programs. In this approach, health systems undertake data-driven improvement processes that fall into three phases:

- 1. Knowledge to practice
- 2. Practice to data, and
- 3. Data to knowledge.

This approach is accompanied by three pillars:

- 1. Practice data collection and management systems
- 2. Workforce development and learning communities, and
- 3. Governance and organisation processes.



The Hunter New England Local Health District learning health system approach has yielded significant improvements in the implementation of chronic disease prevention programs and reduced the costs of implementing such programs. 162,163,164

- 96. Established research-practice partnerships in NSW provide a unique opportunity to conduct research on the implementation of the large-scale reforms needed to achieve system-wide change.¹⁶⁵
- 97. The vast majority of intervention research conducted in Australia and internationally is focused on early phases of the translational continuum (efficacy and replication studies), rather than tests of system transformation at scale.¹⁶⁶
- 98. NSW-based RTCs could be used as implementation laboratories to test rollout of new models of care and or larger system transformations, across multiple Local Health Districts, simultaneously with research and evaluation efforts funded by MRFF and NHMRC.¹⁶⁷

Learnings, gaps, challenges for NSW Health

- 99. There is an opportunity for NSW Health to build on its existing investments, capabilities and infrastructure to strengthen the use of evidence and drive health system improvements. By routinely undertaking research impact assessments, cost-benefit analyses and other evaluation methods, NSW Health can systematically develop a better and more agile understanding of the impact of current investments and identify processes and projects that work and interventions that can be scaled.
- Understanding, identifying and supporting research areas of excellence can assist in driving impactful research and enhanced co-investment from partners such as the Australian Government, non-government agencies and philanthropic organisations. Increased funding and partnerships aligned with health system priority areas has the potential to deliver better outcomes for the health system, for researchers, patients and wider communities. This strengths-based approach can also act to attract leading international scientists to NSW who bring with them highly skilled teams, global partnerships and additional funding streams.
- 101. A coordinated and system-wide effort to reduce the barriers described above could include:
 - Delivering a new whole-of-health research strategy and implementation plan that clearly identifies health system priorities, and the research required to deliver on these
 - Enhancing current efforts to better connect researchers, clinicians and policy makers and increase meaningful dialogue
 - Developing streamlined and timely access to linked health data and reducing administrative barriers such as legacy systems and policy directives
 - Implementing a coordinated research and data literacy capability program to ensure the health workforce can identify and use research evidence to deliver quality services, models of care and interventions.

Strengthening capabilities in implementing innovations and using evidence in health services in NSW

102. There are several opportunities the Inquiry might consider to strengthen capabilities in implementing innovations and using evidence in health services in NSW:

Opportunity 1: Facilitate research on system transformation

- 103. Focusing research activity on the most significant areas of health system reform and areas of greatest challenge could include:
 - Implementation research that addresses large-scale system changes, utilising Local Health Districts as 'living labs', where innovative models of care can be tested in different settings, such as rural and remote. This would involve implementing and expanding implementation science approaches to study how new interventions or care models can be adopted at scale across NSW. Recent examples of the success application of living lab approaches in NSW Health have included the development and implementation of NSW Telestroke Service¹⁶⁸ and value-based health care initiatives.¹⁶⁹
 - Medium to long-term collaborations with research-practice partnerships to accelerate system transformations by testing and refining new care models in real-world settings, ensuring that research is deeply connected to practice.
 - Engaging health sector stakeholders in setting and refining transparent research priorities to ensure more research funded by NSW aligns with the strategic goals of NSW Health.
 - Developing and communicating areas of research interest to articulate areas of
 evidence need across the health sector. This provides the opportunity for researchers
 to focus on areas with the greatest potential for real-world impact, aligning their work
 with the priorities of health providers and funders.

Opportunity 2: Enhance collaborative research efforts at local levels

- 104. Providing further opportunities to involve health services directly in the conduct and generation of research evidence which could include:
 - Increasing the involvement of health services in research prioritisation and decision-making to better reflect community needs. This can be undertaken through joint planning workshops, structured feedback sessions, and collaborative advisory panels where health services representatives play a key role in shaping research agendas. By ensuring that health services have an active voice, research outcomes will more likely align with local health challenges, increasing relevance and impact.
 - Promote and incentivise co-production between researchers, policy makers and end
 users. This could involve frameworks that encourage collaboration at various stages –
 defining the problem, designing the research, implementing solutions, and translating
 findings into practice. This could include setting up 'co-production hubs' or working
 groups that foster ongoing dialogue between research teams and policy stakeholders
 to create research that is actionable, timely and directly aligned with policy needs.

Opportunity 3: Leverage strategic partnerships to drive translation

- Building on the established research-practice infrastructure in NSW to increase engagement with research findings including:
 - Develop new long-term strategic partnerships between academic institutions and healthcare organisations to tackle emerging health challenges, with a particular focus on translating research into practice. These partnerships can attract competitive research funding by demonstrating a clear pathway from discovery to implementation.
 - Embedding more researchers within health services to enable research undertaken to be more responsive and practical.

• Encouraging the appointment of clinical academics in leadership roles. Their dual expertise – both as researchers and clinicians – positions them uniquely to drive innovation in health care. Clinical academics can act as bridges between research and practice, ensuring that academic priorities align with the needs of health services.

References

- ¹ A Crisis in the Health System and Quality of Healthcare in Economically Developed Countries PMC (nih.gov). Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC9819705/
- ² Angeles MR, Crosland P, Hensher M. Challenges for Medicare and universal health care in Australia since 2000. Med J Aust. 2023 Apr 17;218(7):322-329. doi: 10.5694/mja2.51844.
- ³ 2010 Intergenerational Report cited in <u>Budget Overview A National Health and Hospitals Network</u> for Australia's Future
- ⁴ Colditz GA, Wolin KY, Gehlert S. Applying what we know to accelerate cancer prevention. Science translational medicine. 2012;4(127):127rv4-127rv4. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3003218.
- ⁵ Todd AL, Petrunoff N, Frommer M, Nutbeam D. The value of health service-based research to health service organisations: a qualitative study with senior health service executives. Health Res Policy Syst. 2024 May 31;22(1):65. doi:10.1186/s12961-024-01149-z.
- ⁶ Morris ZS, Wooding S, Grant J. The answer is 17 years, what is the question: understanding time lags in translational research. J R Soc Med. 2011 Dec;104(12):510-20. doi:10.1258/jrsm.2011.110180
- ⁷ Todd AL, Petrunoff N, Frommer M, Nutbeam D. The value of health service-based research to health service organisations: a qualitative study with senior health service executives. Health Res Policy Syst. 2024 May 31;22(1):65. doi:10.1186/s12961-024-01149-z.
- ⁸ Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. Australian Atlas of Healthcare Variation Series. Sydney: ACSQHC. Available from: https://www.safetyandquality.gov.au/our-work/healthcare-variation/australian-atlas-healthcare-variation-series
- ⁹ Martin E, Fisher O, Merlo G, Zardo P, Barrimore SE, Rowland J, Davies JM. Impact of a health services innovation university program in a major public hospital and health service: a mixed methods evaluation. Implement Sci Commun. 2022 Apr 25;3(1):46. doi:10.1186/s43058-022-00293-3
- ¹⁰ Greenhalgh T, Robert G, Macfarlane F, Bate P, Kyriakidou O. Diffusion of innovations in service organizations: systematic review and recommendations. Milbank Q. 2004;82(4):581-629. doi:10.1111/j.0887-378X.2004.00325.x.
- ¹¹ Australian Government Department of Health and Aged Care. Strategic Review of Health and Medical Research Summary Report. February 2013, Editor. 2013: Canberra.
- ¹² Australian Government Department of Health and Aged Care. Medical Research Future Fund. 2024. Available from: https://www.health.gov.au/our-work/mrff
- ¹³ Braithwaite J, Glasziou P, Westbrook J. The three numbers you need to know about healthcare: the 60-30-10 Challenge. BMC Med. 2020 May 4;18(1):102. doi:10.1186/s12916-020-01563-4.
- ¹⁴ Westfall J, Mold J, Fagnan L. Practice-based research "Blue Highways" on the NIH roadmap. JAMA 2007;297:403–6. <u>doi: 10.1001/jama.297.4.403</u>.
- ¹⁵ Braithwaite J, Glasziou P, Westbrook J. The three numbers you need to know about healthcare: the 60-30-10 Challenge. BMC Med. 2020 May 4;18(1):102. doi:10.1186/s12916-020-01563-4.
- ¹⁶ Greenhalgh T, Wherton J, Papoutsi C, Lynch J, Hughes G, A'Court C, Hinder S, Fahy N, Procter R, Shaw S. Beyond Adoption: A New Framework for Theorizing and Evaluating Nonadoption, Abandonment, and Challenges to the Scale-Up, Spread, and Sustainability of Health and Care Technologies. J Med Internet Res 2017;19(11):e367. doi: 10.2196/jmir.8775
- ¹⁷ Braithwaite J, Glasziou P, Westbrook J. The three numbers you need to know about healthcare: the 60-30-10 Challenge. BMC Med. 2020 May 4;18(1):102. doi:10.1186/s12916-020-01563-4.
- ¹⁸ Shojania KG, Sampson M, Ansari MT, Ji J, Doucette S, Moher D. How quickly do systematic reviews go out of date? A survival analysis. Ann Intern Med. 2007;147(4):224–33. <u>doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-147-4-200708210-00179</u>

- ¹⁹ Braithwaite J, Glasziou P, Westbrook J. The three numbers you need to know about healthcare: the 60-30-10 Challenge. BMC Med. 2020 May 4;18(1):102. <u>doi:10.1186/s12916-020-01563-4</u>.
- ²⁰ Wolfenden L, Wiggers J, Barnes C, Lane C, Groombridge D, Robertson K, Jones J, McCrabb S, Hodder RK, Shoesmith A, Hudson N, McCarthy N, Kingsland M, Doherty E, Princehorn E, Finch M, Nathan N, Sutherland R. Learning health systems to implement chronic disease prevention programs: A novel framework and perspectives from an Australian health service. Learn Health Syst. 2024 Oct 15;8(4):e10466. doi: 10.1002/lrh2.10466.
- ²¹ NSW Government. eHealth NSW. Single Digital Patient Record (SDPR). Available from: https://www.ehealth.nsw.gov.au/solutions/clinical-care/electronic-medical-records/sdpr
- ²² Todd AL, Petrunoff N, Frommer M, Nutbeam D. The value of health service-based research to health service organisations: a qualitative study with senior health service executives. Health Res Policy Syst. 2024 May 31;22(1):65. doi: 10.1186/s12961-024-01149-z.
- ²³ Francis-Auton E, Long JC, Sarkies M, Roberts N, Westbrook J, Levesque JF, Watson DE, Hardwick R, Hibbert P, Pomare C, Braithwaite J. Four System Enablers of Large-System Transformation in Health Care: A Mixed Methods Realist Evaluation. Milbank Q. 2024 Mar;102(1):183-211. doi: 10.1111/1468-0009.12684.
- ²⁴ Reed JE, Howe C, Doyle C, Bell D. Simple rules for evidence translation in complex systems: A qualitative study. BMC Med. 2018 Jun 20;16(1):92. <u>doi: 10.1186/s12916-018-1076-9</u>.
- ²⁵ Greenhalgh T, Papoutsi C. Studying complexity in health services research: desperately seeking an overdue paradigm shift. BMC Med. 2018 Jun 20;16(1):95. doi: 10.1186/s12916-018-1089-4.
- ²⁶ Braithwaite J, Churruca K, Long JC, Ellis LA, Herkes J. When complexity science meets implementation science: a theoretical and empirical analysis of systems change. BMC Med. 2018 Apr 30;16(1):63. doi: 10.1186/s12916-018-1057-z.
- ²⁷ Robinson T, Bailey C, Morris H, Burns P, Melder A, Croft C, Spyridonidis D, Bismantara H, Skouteris H, Teede H. Bridging the research-practice gap in healthcare: a rapid review of research translation centres in England and Australia. Health Res Policy Syst. 2020 Oct 9;18(1):117. doi: 10.1186/s12961-020-00621-w.
- ²⁸ Oborn E, Barrett M, Racko G. Knowledge translation in healthcare: Incorporating theories of learning and knowledge from the management literature. J Health Organ Manag. 2013;27(4):412-31. doi: 10.1108/JHOM-01-2012-0004.
- ²⁹ The King's Fund. Leading for integrated care. London: The King's Fund; 2019. Available from: https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/insight-and-analysis/reports/leading-integrated-care
- ³⁰ Toh CH, Haynes R. The Health and Care Act 2022: challenges and priorities for embedding research in the NHS. Lancet. 2022 Jul 30;400(10349):343-345. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(22)01195-3.
- ³¹ Zerhouni E. Medicine. The NIH Roadmap. Science. 2003 Oct 3;302(5642):63-72. <u>doi:</u> 10.1126/science.1091867.
- ³² UK Research and Innovation. Office for strategic coordination of health research. Available from: https://www.ukri.org/who-we-are/mrc/how-we-are-governed/oschr/#
- ³³ UK Research and Innovation. Office for strategic coordination of health research. Available from: https://www.ukri.org/who-we-are/mrc/how-we-are-governed/oschr/#
- ³⁴ Yoong SL, Bolsewicz K, Reilly K, Williams C, Wolfenden L, Grady A, Kingsland M, Finch M, Wiggers J. Describing the evidence-base for research engagement by health care providers and health care organisations: a scoping review. BMC Health Serv Res. 2023 Jan 24;23(1):75. doi: 10.1186/s12913-022-08887-2.
- 35 Collaborations for Leadership in Applied Health Research and Care. Available from: $\underline{\text{http://www.nihr.ac.uk/files/pdfs/CLAHRC\%20-\%20Call\%20for\%20Proposals\%20for\%20Pilots.pd} \underline{f}.$

³⁶ McKeon S, Alexander E, Brodaty H, Ferris B, Frazer I, Little M. Strategic Review of Health and Medical Research, Summary Report. Department of Health and Ageing: Canberra; 2013.

³⁷ Australian Government Department of Health and Aged Care. About us. Available from: https://www.health.gov.au/about-us

³⁸ Australian Government Department of Health and Aged Care. About us. Available from: https://www.health.gov.au/about-us

³⁹ NHMRC. Research Translation. Available from: https://www.nhmrc.gov.au/research-policy/research-translation-and-impact

⁴⁰ NHMRC. Recognised Research Translation Centres. Available from: https://www.nhmrc.gov.au/research-policy/research-translation/recognised-research-translation-centres

⁴¹ Sydney Health Partners. Home page. Available from: https://sydneyhealthpartners.org.au/

⁴² Maridulu Budyari Gumal, the Sydney Partnership for Health, Education, Research and Enterprise (SPHERE). About Us. Available from: https://www.thesphere.com.au/about-us/

⁴³ NSW Regional Health Partners. Home page. Available from: https://nswregionalhealthpartners.org.au/

⁴⁴ Mooney G, Jan S, Seymour J. The NSW health outcomes initiative and economic analysis. Aust J Public Health. 1994 Sep;18(3):244-8. doi: 10.1111/j.1753-6405.1994.tb00238.x.

⁴⁵ NSW Health. NSW Health and Medical Research Strategic Review - Report. 2012. Available from: https://www.medicalresearch.nsw.gov.au/app/uploads/2018/07/strategic-review-report-2012.pdf

⁴⁶ NSW Health. NSW Health and Medical Research Strategic Review - Report. 2012. Available from: https://www.medicalresearch.nsw.gov.au/app/uploads/2018/07/strategic-review-report-2012.pdf

 47 NSW Health. NSW Government Response to the NSW Health & Medical Research Strategic Review. 2012. Available from:

https://www.medicalresearch.nsw.gov.au/app/uploads/2018/07/strategic-review-gov-response-2012.pdf

⁴⁸ Maridulu Budyari Gumal, the Sydney Partnership for Health, Education, Research and Enterprise (SPHERE). Platforms. Available from: https://www.thesphere.com.au/platforms/

⁴⁹ NSW Health & Medical Research. Medical Devices Fund. Available from: https://www.medicalresearch.nsw.gov.au/medical-devices-fund/

⁵⁰ NSW Agency for Clinical Innovation. About us. Available from: https://aci.health.nsw.gov.au/about/about-us

⁵¹ NSW Agency for Clinical Innovation. About the Stroke Network. Available from: https://aci.health.nsw.gov.au/networks/stroke/about

⁵² NSW Agency for Clinical Innovation. Virtual care. Available from: https://aci.health.nsw.gov.au/statewide-programs/virtual-care

53 NSW Agency for Clinical Innovation. Home page. Available from: https://aci.health.nsw.gov.au/

⁵⁴ NSW Government. Medical Research Support Program 2024-2028 Available from: https://www.nsw.gov.au/grants-and-funding/medical-research-support-program-2024-2028

⁵⁵ Thackway S, Campbell D, Loppacher T. A long-term, strategic approach to evidence generation and knowledge translation in NSW, Australia. Public Health Res Pract. 2017 Feb 15;27(1):2711702. <u>doi: 10.17061/phrp2711702</u>.

⁵⁶ Hunter Medical Research Institute. Home page. Available from: https://hmri.org.au/

⁵⁷ NSW Health and Medical Research. Translational Research Grants Scheme. Available from: https://www.medicalresearch.nsw.gov.au/translational-research-grants-scheme/

- ⁵⁸ NSW Health. Prevention Research Support Program. Available from: https://www.health.nsw.gov.au/research/Pages/prsp.aspx
- ⁵⁹ Stickney B, Campbell DM, Milat AJ, Thackway S. The Prevention Research Support Program: supporting innovation in research, translation and capability building. Public Health Res Pract. 2018 Sep 27;28(3):2831819. doi: 10.17061/phrp2831819.
- ⁶⁰ Thackway S, Campbell D, Loppacher T. A long-term, strategic approach to evidence generation and knowledge translation in NSW, Australia. Public Health Res Pract. 2017 Feb 15;27(1):2711702. <u>doi: 10.17061/phrp2711702</u>.
- ⁶¹ NSW Health and Medical Research. Clinical Trial Management System. Available from: https://www.medicalresearch.nsw.gov.au/clinical-trial-management-system/
- ⁶² Office for Health and Medical Research. Impact and process evaluation of the NSW Health Early-Mid Career Grant Program. Sydney: NSW Ministry of Health, 2024. Available from: https://www.medicalresearch.nsw.gov.au/app/uploads/2024/09/Evaluation-of-the-NSW-Health-Early-Mid-Career-Grant-Program-2024.pdf
- ⁶³ Australian Government Department of Health and Aged Care. Strategic Review of Health and Medical Research Summary Report. February 2013, Editor. 2013: Canberra.
- ⁶⁴ Anderson S, Allen P, Peckham S, Goodwin N. Asking the right questions: scoping studies in the commissioning of research on the organisation and delivery of health services. Health Res Policy Syst. 2008 Jul 9;6:7. doi: 10.1186/1478-4505-6-7.
- ⁶⁵ Greenhalgh T, Jackson C, Shaw S, Janamian T. Achieving Research Impact Through Co-creation in Community-Based Health Services: Literature Review and Case Study. Milbank Q. 2016 Jun;94(2):392-429. doi: 10.1111/1468-0009.12197.
- ⁶⁶ Rycroft-Malone J, Burton CR, Bucknall T, Graham ID, Hutchinson AM, Stacey D. Collaboration and Co-Production of Knowledge in Healthcare: Opportunities and Challenges. Int J Health Policy Manag. 2016 Jan 28;5(4):221-3. doi: 10.15171/ijhpm.2016.08.
- ⁶⁷ Hoekstra F, Mrklas KJ, Khan M, McKay RC, Vis-Dunbar M, Sibley KM, Nguyen T, Graham ID; SCI Guiding Principles Consensus Panel; Gainforth HL. A review of reviews on principles, strategies, outcomes and impacts of research partnerships approaches: a first step in synthesising the research partnership literature. Health Res Policy Syst. 2020 May 25;18(1):51. doi: 10.1186/s12961-020-0544-9.
- ⁶⁸ Gagliardi AR, Berta W, Kothari A, Boyko J, Urquhart R. Integrated knowledge translation (IKT) in health care: a scoping review. Implement Sci. 2016 Mar 17;11:38. <u>doi: 10.1186/s13012-016-0399-1</u>.
- ⁶⁹ Abu-Odah H, Said NB, Nair SC, Allsop MJ, Currow DC, Salah MS, Hamad BA, Elessi K, Alkhatib A, ElMokhallalati Y, Bayuo J, AlKhaldi M. Identifying barriers and facilitators of translating research evidence into clinical practice: A systematic review of reviews. Health Soc Care Community. 2022 Nov;30(6):e3265-e3276. doi: 10.1111/hsc.13898.
- ⁷⁰ Moore G, Redman S, Rudge S, Haynes A. Do policy-makers find commissioned rapid reviews useful? Health Res Policy Syst. 2018 Feb 26;16(1):17. doi: 10.1186/s12961-018-0293-1.
- ⁷¹ Black AT, Steinberg M, Chisholm AE, Coldwell K, Hoens AM, Koh JC, LeBlanc A, Mackay M, Salmon A, Snow ME. Building capacity for implementation-the KT Challenge. Implement Sci Commun. 2021 Jul 28;2(1):84. doi: 10.1186/s43058-021-00186-x.
- ⁷² Tait H, Williamson A. A literature review of knowledge translation and partnership research training programs for health researchers. Health Res Policy Syst. 2019 Dec 16;17(1):98. <u>doi: 10.1186/s12961-019-0497-z</u>.
- ⁷³ National Institute for Health and Care Research. Home page. Available from: https://www.nihr.ac.uk/
- ⁷⁴ Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. Home page. Available from: https://www.ahrg.gov/
- ⁷⁵ Medical Research Future Fund. Our work. Available from: https://www.health.gov.au/our-work/mrff.

- ⁷⁶ NHMRC. Partnership Projects Scheme. Available from: https://www.nhmrc.gov.au/funding/find-funding/partnership-projects
- ⁷⁷ Auld R, Loppacher T, Rose S, Milat AJ, Penna A. Translational Research Grants Scheme (TRGS): a new approach to strengthening health system research capacity. Public Health Res Pract. 2018 Sep 27;28(3):2831818. doi: 10.17061/phrp2831818.
- ⁷⁸ NSW Health. Prevention Research Support Program. Available from: https://www.health.nsw.gov.au/research/Pages/prsp.aspx.
- ⁷⁹ Auld R, Loppacher T, Rose S, Milat AJ, Penna A. Translational Research Grants Scheme (TRGS): a new approach to strengthening health system research capacity. Public Health Res Pract. 2018 Sep 27;28(3):2831818. doi: 10.17061/phrp2831818.
- ⁸⁰ Stickney B, Campbell DM, Milat AJ, Thackway S. The Prevention Research Support Program: supporting innovation in research, translation and capability building. Public Health Res Pract. 2018 Sep 27;28(3):2831819. doi: 10.17061/phrp2831819.
- ⁸¹ Stickney B, Campbell DM, Milat AJ, Thackway S. The Prevention Research Support Program: supporting innovation in research, translation and capability building. Public Health Res Pract. 2018 Sep 27;28(3):2831819. doi: 10.17061/phrp2831819.
- ⁸² Todd AL, Petrunoff N, Frommer M, Nutbeam D. The value of health service-based research to health service organisations: a qualitative study with senior health service executives. Health Res Policy Syst. 2024 May 31;22(1):65. doi: 10.1186/s12961-024-01149-z.
- ⁸³ Bhaumik S, Rana S, Karimkhani C, Welch V, Armstrong R, Pottie K, Dellavalle R, Dhakal P, Oliver S, Francis DK, Nasser M, Crowe S, Aksut B, Amico RD. Ethics and equity in research priority-setting: stakeholder engagement and the needs of disadvantaged groups. Indian J Med Ethics. 2015 Apr-Jun;12(2):110-3. doi: 10.20529/IJME.2015.030.
- ⁸⁴ Bryant J, Sanson-Fisher R, Walsh J, Stewart J. Health research priority setting in selected high income countries: a narrative review of methods used and recommendations for future practice. Cost Eff Resour Alloc. 2014 Nov 18;12:23. doi: 10.1186/1478-7547-12-23.
- ⁸⁵ Tong A, Synnot A, Crowe S, Hill S, Matus A, Scholes-Robertson N, Oliver S, Cowan K, Nasser M, Bhaumik S, Gutman T, Baumgart A, Craig JC. Reporting guideline for priority setting of health research (REPRISE). BMC Med Res Methodol. 2019 Dec 28;19(1):243. doi: 10.1186/s12874-019-0889-3.
- ⁸⁶ Collie L, Milat A, Sharma A, Liaw ST, Gale M. What role can 'health decision-makers' play in supporting knowledge translation of health and medical research? Public Health Res Pract. 2024 Jun 19:34(2):3422413. doi: 10.17061/phrp3422413.
- ⁸⁷ Todd AL, Petrunoff N, Frommer M, Nutbeam D. The value of health service-based research to health service organisations: a qualitative study with senior health service executives. Health Res Policy Syst. 2024 May 31;22(1):65. doi: 10.1186/s12961-024-01149-z.
- ⁸⁸ Todd AL, Petrunoff N, Frommer M, Nutbeam D. The value of health service-based research to health service organisations: a qualitative study with senior health service executives. Health Res Policy Syst. 2024 May 31:22(1):65. doi: 10.1186/s12961-024-01149-z
- ⁸⁹ Todd AL, Petrunoff N, Frommer M, Nutbeam D. The value of health service-based research to health service organisations: a qualitative study with senior health service executives. Health Res Policy Syst. 2024 May 31;22(1):65. <u>doi: 10.1186/s12961-024-01149-z</u>
- ⁹⁰ NSW Ministry of Health. Setting research priorities a guide. 2024. Available from: https://www.health.nsw.gov.au/research/Pages/research-priorities-guide.aspx
- ⁹¹ Robinson T, Bailey C, Morris H, Burns P, Melder A, Croft C, Spyridonidis D, Bismantara H, Skouteris H, Teede H. Bridging the research-practice gap in healthcare: a rapid review of research translation centres in England and Australia. Health Res Policy Syst. 2020 Oct 9;18(1):117. doi: 10.1186/s12961-020-00621-w.
- ⁹² Robinson T, Bailey C, Morris H, Burns P, Melder A, Croft C, Spyridonidis D, Bismantara H, Skouteris H, Teede H. Bridging the research-practice gap in healthcare: a rapid review of research

translation centres in England and Australia. Health Res Policy Syst. 2020 Oct 9;18(1):117. doi: 10.1186/s12961-020-00621-w..

- ⁹³ Institute of Medicine. Best care at lower cost: the path to continuously learning health care in America. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press; 2013.
- ⁹⁴ Menear M, Blanchette MA, Demers-Payette O, Roy D. A framework for value-creating learning health systems. Health Res Policy Syst. 2019 Aug 9;17(1):79. doi: 10.1186/s12961-019-0477-3.
- ⁹⁵ Zurynski Y, Smith CL, Vedovi A, Ellis LA, Knaggs G, Meulenbroeks I, Warwick M, Gul H, Pomare C, Braithwaite J. Mapping the Learning Health System: A Scoping Review of Current Evidence. Australian Institute of Health Innovation, and the NHRMC Partnership Centre for Health System Sustainability, Sydney, Australia, 2020. Available from: https://research-management.mg.edu.au/ws/portalfiles/portal/134364432/Publisher_version_open_access_.pdf
- ⁹⁶ Enticott J, Johnson A, Teede H. Learning health systems using data to drive healthcare improvement and impact: a systematic review. BMC Health Serv Res. 2021 Mar 5;21(1):200. <u>doi: 10.1186/s12913-021-06215-8</u>.
- ⁹⁷ Trinkley KE, Ho PM, Glasgow RE, Huebschmann AG. How Dissemination and Implementation Science Can Contribute to the Advancement of Learning Health Systems. Acad Med. 2022 Oct 1;97(10):1447-1458. doi: 10.1097/ACM.000000000004801.
- ⁹⁸ Wolfenden L, Wiggers J, Barnes C, et al. Learning health systems to implement chronic disease prevention programs: A novel framework and perspectives from an Australian health service. *Learn Health Sys.* 2024; 8(4):e10466. doi:10.1002/lrh2.10466
- ⁹⁹ Ellis LA, Sarkies M, Churruca K, Dammery G, Meulenbroeks I, Smith CL, Pomare C, Mahmoud Z, Zurynski Y, Braithwaite J. The Science of Learning Health Systems: Scoping Review of Empirical Research. JMIR Med Inform. 2022 Feb 23;10(2):e34907. doi: 10.2196/34907.
- Machado GC, Richards B, Needs C, Buchbinder R, Harris IA, Howard K, McCaffery K, Billot L, Edwards J, Rogan E, Facer R, Lord Cowell D, Maher CG; SHaPED trial Investigators. Implementation of an evidence-based model of care for low back pain in emergency departments: protocol for the Sydney Health Partners Emergency Department (SHaPED) trial. BMJ Open. 2018 Apr 19;8(4):e019052. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-019052.
- ¹⁰¹ Oliveira CB, Coombs D, Machado GC, McCaffery K, Richards B, Pinto RZ, O'Keeffe M, Maher CG, Christofaro DGD. Process evaluation of the implementation of an evidence-based model of care for low back pain in Australian emergency departments. Musculoskelet Sci Pract. 2023 Aug;66:102814.
 <u>doi: 10.1016/j.msksp.2023.102814</u>.
- ¹⁰² Sax Institute, MRFF Rapid Applied Research Translation grants program: Review of Sydney Health Partners projects. 2021, Sax Institute: Sydney, NSW.
- ¹⁰³ Office and Health and Medical Research.

Back pain study wins Clinical Trial of the Year. Available from: https://www.medicalresearch.nsw.gov.au/back-pain-study-wins-clinical-trial-of-the-year/

- ¹⁰⁴ Sydney Health Partners. Implementation Science Academy. Available from: https://implementationscience.com.au/
- ¹⁰⁵ Gordon T, Power C, Duck T, Schmidt HA, Holden J. A priority-driven, policy-relevant research program to support a response to blood-borne viruses and sexually transmissible infections in NSW, Australia. Public Health Res Pract. 2018 Sep 27;28(3):2831820. doi: 10.17061/phrp2831820.
- ¹⁰⁶ Milat AJ, King L, Bauman A. The Physical Activity, Nutrition and Obesity Research Group: fostering population health research in NSW. N S W Public Health Bull. 2011 Apr;22(1-2):13-4. doi: 10.1071/NB10059.
- ¹⁰⁷ The Australian Prevention Partnership Centre. Our Impact. Available from: https://preventioncentre.org.au/impact

- ¹⁰⁸ Smits PA, Denis JL. How research funding agencies support science integration into policy and practice: an international overview. Implement Sci. 2014 Feb 24;9:28. <u>doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-9-28</u>.
- ¹⁰⁹ Milat AJ, King L, Bauman A. The Physical Activity, Nutrition and Obesity Research Group: fostering population health research in NSW. N S W Public Health Bull. 2011 Apr;22(1-2):13-4. <u>doi:</u> 10.1071/NB10059.
- ¹¹⁰ The Australian Prevention Partnership Centre. Our Impact. Available from: https://preventioncentre.org.au/impact
- ¹¹¹ Gordon T, Power C, Duck T, Schmidt HA, Holden J. A priority-driven, policy-relevant research program to support a response to blood-borne viruses and sexually transmissible infections in NSW, Australia. Public Health Res Pract. 2018 Sep 27;28(3):2831820. doi: 10.17061/phrp2831820.
- ¹¹² Gordon T, Power C, Duck T, Schmidt HA, Holden J. A priority-driven, policy-relevant research program to support a response to blood-borne viruses and sexually transmissible infections in NSW, Australia. Public Health Res Pract. 2018 Sep 27;28(3):2831820. doi: 10.17061/phrp2831820.
- ¹¹³ Milat AJ, King L, Bauman A. The Physical Activity, Nutrition and Obesity Research Group: fostering population health research in NSW. N S W Public Health Bull. 2011 Apr;22(1-2):13-4. doi: 10.1071/NB10059
- ¹¹⁴ The Australian Prevention Partnership Centre. Our Impact. Available from: https://preventioncentre.org.au/impact
- ¹¹⁵ Gordon T, Power C, Duck T, Schmidt HA, Holden J. A priority-driven, policy-relevant research program to support a response to blood-borne viruses and sexually transmissible infections in NSW, Australia. Public Health Res Pract. 2018 Sep 27;28(3):2831820. doi: 10.17061/phrp2831820.
- ¹¹⁶ Milat AJ, King L, Bauman A. The Physical Activity, Nutrition and Obesity Research Group: fostering population health research in NSW. N S W Public Health Bull. 2011 Apr;22(1-2):13-4. <u>doi:</u> 10.1071/NB10059
- ¹¹⁷ The Australian Prevention Partnership Centre. Our Impact. Available from: https://preventioncentre.org.au/impact
- ¹¹⁸ Matus J, Walker A, Mickan S. Research capacity building frameworks for allied health professionals a systematic review. BMC Health Serv Res. 2018 Sep 15;18(1):716. <u>doi: 10.1186/s12913-018-3518-7</u>.
- ¹¹⁹ Lizarondo L, Grimmer-Somers K, Kumar S. A systematic review of the individual determinants of research evidence use in allied health. J Multidiscip Healthc. 2011;4:261-72. <u>doi:</u> 10.2147/JMDH.S23144.
- ¹²⁰ Williams C, Miyazaki K, Borkowski D, McKinstry C, Cotchet M, Haines T. Research capacity and culture of the Victorian public health allied health workforce is influenced by key research support staff and location. Aust Health Rev. 2015 Jun;39(3):303-311. doi: 10.1071/AH14209.
- ¹²¹ Pickstone C, Nancarrow SA, Cooke JM, Vernon W, Mountain GA, Boyce RA et al. Building research capacity in the allied health professions. Evidence and Policy. 2008;4(1):53-68. <u>doi:</u> 10.1332/174426408783477864
- ¹²² Hulcombe J, Sturgess J, Souvlis T, Fitzgerald C. An approach to building research capacity for health practitioners in a public health environment: an organisational perspective. Aust Health Rev. 2014 Jun;38(3):252-8. doi: 10.1071/AH13066.
- ¹²³ Holden L, Pager S, Golenko X, Ware RS. Validation of the research capacity and culture (RCC) tool: measuring RCC at individual, team and organisation levels. Aust J Prim Health. 2012;18(1):62-7. doi: 10.1071/PY10081.
- ¹²⁴ Norton S, Milat A, Edwards B, Giffin M. Narrative review of strategies by organizations for building evaluation capacity. Eval Program Plann. 2016 Oct;58:1-19. doi: 10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2016.04.004.
- ¹²⁵ CIAP. Clinical Information Access Portal. Available from: https://www.ciap.health.nsw.gov.au/

- ¹²⁶ Williamson L, McArthur E, Dolan H, Levesque JF, Sutherland K. Horizon scanning, rapid reviews and living evidence to support decision-making: lessons from the work of the Critical Intelligence Unit in New South Wales, Australia during the COVID-19 pandemic. BMJ Open. 2023 May 18;13(5):e071003. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2022-071003.
- ¹²⁷ Williamson L, McArthur E, Dolan H, Levesque JF, Sutherland K. Horizon scanning, rapid reviews and living evidence to support decision-making: lessons from the work of the Critical Intelligence Unit in New South Wales, Australia during the COVID-19 pandemic. BMJ Open. 2023 May 18;13(5):e071003. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2022-071003.
- ¹²⁸ Sax Institute. Evidence Check. Available from: https://www.saxinstitute.org.au/solutions/evidence-check/
- ¹²⁹ NSW Health. Research and evaluation guides. Available from: https://www.health.nsw.gov.au/research/Pages/population-health-guidance-series.aspx
- ¹³⁰ NSW Agency for Clinical Innovation. Accelerating Implementation Methodology. Available from: https://aci.health.nsw.gov.au/support-for-innovation/redesign-change-management/aim
- ¹³¹ Sikka R, Morath JM, Leape L. The Quadruple Aim: care, health, cost and meaning in work. BMJ Qual Saf. 2015 Oct;24(10):608-10. doi: 10.1136/bmjqs-2015-004160.
- ¹³² Centre for Epidemiology and Evidence. Enhancing insights and decision-making
- in the NSW Ministry of Health: Data literacy capability framework. Sydney: NSW

Ministry of Health, 2024. Available from:

- https://www.health.nsw.gov.au/epidemiology/Publications/data-literacy-capability-framework.pdf
- ¹³³ Enticott J, Braaf S, Johnson A, Jones A, Teede HJ. Leaders' perspectives on learning health systems: a qualitative study. BMC Health Serv Res. 2020 Nov 26;20(1):1087. doi: 10.1186/s12913-020-05924-w.
- ¹³⁴ Enticott J, Braaf S, Johnson A, Jones A, Teede HJ. Leaders' perspectives on learning health systems: a qualitative study. BMC Health Serv Res. 2020 Nov 26;20(1):1087. doi: 10.1186/s12913-020-05924-w.
- ¹³⁵ Enticott J, Braaf S, Johnson A, Jones A, Teede HJ. Leaders' perspectives on learning health systems: a qualitative study. BMC Health Serv Res. 2020 Nov 26;20(1):1087. doi: 10.1186/s12913-020-05924-w.
- ¹³⁶ Allen C, Coleman K, Mettert K, Lewis C, Westbrook E, Lozano P. A roadmap to operationalize and evaluate impact in a learning health system. Learn Health Syst. 2021 Jan 24;5(4):e10258. <u>doi: 10.1002/lrh2.10258</u>.
- ¹³⁷ Reis T, Faria I, Serra H, Xavier M. Barriers and facilitators to implementing a continuing medical education intervention in a primary health care setting. BMC Health Serv Res. 2022 May 13;22(1):638. doi: 10.1186/s12913-022-08019-w.
- ¹³⁸ Bryant J, Zucca A, Turon H, Sanson-Fisher R, Morrison A. Attitudes towards and engagement in self-directed learning among paramedics in New South Wales, Australia: a cross sectional study. BMC Med Educ. 2023 Oct 12;23(1):759. doi: 10.1186/s12909-023-04740-0.
- ¹³⁹ Jeong D, Presseau J, ElChamaa R, Naumann DN, Mascaro C, Luconi F, Smith KM, Kitto S. Barriers and Facilitators to Self-Directed Learning in Continuing Professional Development for Physicians in Canada: A Scoping Review. Acad Med. 2018 Aug;93(8):1245-1254. doi: 10.1097/ACM.0000000000002237.
- ¹⁴⁰ Main PAE, Anderson S. Evidence for continuing professional development standards for regulated health practitioners in Australia: a systematic review. Hum Resour Health. 2023 Mar 20;21(1):23. <u>doi:</u> 10.1186/s12960-023-00803-x.
- National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine; Health and Medicine Division; Board on Health Care Services; Board on Global Health; Committee on Improving the Quality of Health Care Globally. Crossing the Global Quality Chasm: Improving Health Care Worldwide. Washington (DC):

National Academies Press (US); 2018 Aug 28. 8, Establishing a Culture of Continual Learning. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK535661/

- ¹⁴² Bryant J, Zucca A, Turon H, Sanson-Fisher R, Morrison A. Attitudes towards and engagement in self-directed learning among paramedics in New South Wales, Australia: a cross sectional study. BMC Med Educ. 2023 Oct 12;23(1):759. doi: 10.1186/s12909-023-04740-0.
- ¹⁴³ Zurynski Y, Smith CL, Vedovi A, Ellis LA, Knaggs G, Meulenbroeks I, Warwick M, Gul H, Pomare C, Braithwaite J. Mapping the Learning Health System: A Scoping Review of Current Evidence. Australian Institute of Health Innovation, and the NHRMC Partnership Centre for Health System Sustainability, Sydney, Australia, 2020. Available from: https://research-management.mg.edu.au/ws/portalfiles/portal/134364432/Publisher_version_open_access_.pdf
- ¹⁴⁴ Allen C, Coleman K, Mettert K, Lewis C, Westbrook E, Lozano P. A roadmap to operationalize and evaluate impact in a learning health system. Learn Health Syst. 2021 Jan 24;5(4):e10258. <u>doi:</u> 10.1002/lrh2.10258.
- ¹⁴⁵ Sydney Health Partners. Implementation Science Academy. Available from: https://implementationscience.com.au/
- ¹⁴⁶ National Centre of Implementation Science. <u>NCOIS National Centre of Implementation Science</u>
- ¹⁴⁷ NSW Government. eHealth NSW. My Health Learning. Available from: https://www.ehealth.nsw.gov.au/solutions/workforce-business/workforce/mhl
- ¹⁴⁸ NSW Health. NSW Public Health Training Program. Available from: https://www.health.nsw.gov.au/training/phot/Pages/default.aspx
- ¹⁴⁹ Cunningham FC, Ranmuthugala G, Plumb J, Georgiou A, Westbrook JI, Braithwaite J. Health professional networks as a vector for improving healthcare quality and safety: a systematic review. BMJ Qual Saf. 2012 Mar;21(3):239-49. doi: 10.1136/bmjqs-2011-000187.
- ¹⁵⁰ Noar AP, Jeffery HE, Subbiah Ponniah H, Jaffer U. The aims and effectiveness of communities of practice in healthcare: A systematic review. PLoS One. 2023 Oct 10;18(10):e0292343. <u>doi:</u> 10.1371/journal.pone.0292343.
- ¹⁵¹ NSW Regional Cancer Research Network. Home page. Available from: https://nswregionalcrn.com.au/home
- ¹⁵² Research in Practice Network. Home page. Available from: https://researchinpracticenetwork.com.au/
- ¹⁵³ Barnes C, Sutherland R, Jones G, Kingon N; NCOIS Research Collaborative; Wolfenden L. Development and piloting of a Community of Practice to support learning and improvement in health promotion practice within NSW local health district. Public Health Res Pract. 2023 Sep 13;33(3):3332326. doi: 10.17061/phrpp3332326.
- ¹⁵⁴ NSW Agency for Clinical Innovation. A focus on ACI (2023). Connecting clinicians to embrace innovation. Available from: https://aci.health.nsw.gov.au/focus-2023/connecting-clinicians
- ¹⁵⁵ Ali A, Gittelman M. Research paradigms and useful inventions in medicine: patents and licensing by teams of clinical and basic scientists in academic medical centers. Res Policy. 2016 Oct;45(8):1499–511. doi: 10.1016/j.respol.2016.03.015
- ¹⁵⁶ Gittelman M. The revolution re-visited: Clinical and genetics research paradigms and the productivity paradox in drug discovery. Res Policy 2016;45:1570–85. Doi: 10.1016/j.respol.2016.01.007
- ¹⁵⁷ Wolfenden L, Yoong SL, Williams CM, Grimshaw J, Durrheim DN, Gillham K, Wiggers J. Embedding researchers in health service organizations improves research translation and health service performance: the Australian Hunter New England Population Health example. J Clin Epidemiol. 2017 May;85:3-11. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2017.03.007.
- ¹⁵⁸ Clinician Researchers initiative | Australian Government Department of Health and Aged Care

¹⁵⁹ Australian Government Department of Health and Aged Care. Clinician Researchers initiative. Available from: https://www.health.gov.au/our-work/mrff-clinician-researchers-initiative

- ¹⁶⁰ Wolfenden L, Yoong SL, Williams CM, Grimshaw J, Durrheim DN, Gillham K, Wiggers J. Embedding researchers in health service organizations improves research translation and health service performance: the Australian Hunter New England Population Health example. J Clin Epidemiol. 2017 May;85:3-11. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2017.03.007.
- ¹⁶¹ Wolfenden L, Yoong SL, Williams CM, Grimshaw J, Durrheim DN, Gillham K, Wiggers J. Embedding researchers in health service organizations improves research translation and health service performance: the Australian Hunter New England Population Health example. J Clin Epidemiol. 2017 May;85:3-11. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2017.03.007.
- ¹⁶² Wolfenden L, Yoong SL, Williams CM, Grimshaw J, Durrheim DN, Gillham K, Wiggers J. Embedding researchers in health service organizations improves research translation and health service performance: the Australian Hunter New England Population Health example. J Clin Epidemiol. 2017 May;85:3-11. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2017.03.007.
- ¹⁶³ Lane C, Nathan N, Reeves P, Sutherland R, Wolfenden L, Shoesmith A, Hall A. Economic evaluation of a multi-strategy intervention that improves school-based physical activity policy implementation. Implement Sci. 2022 Jun 28;17(1):40. doi: 10.1186/s13012-022-01215-6.
- ¹⁶⁴ Reilly KL, Reeves P, Deeming S, Yoong SL, Wolfenden L, Nathan N, Wiggers J. Economic analysis of three interventions of different intensity in improving school implementation of a government healthy canteen policy in Australia: costs, incremental and relative cost effectiveness. BMC Public Health. 2018 Mar 20;18(1):378. doi: 10.1186/s12889-018-5315-y.
- ¹⁶⁵ Francis-Auton E, Long JC, Sarkies M, Roberts N, Westbrook J, Levesque JF, Watson DE, Hardwick R, Hibbert P, Pomare C, Braithwaite J. Four System Enablers of Large-System Transformation in Health Care: A Mixed Methods Realist Evaluation. Milbank Q. 2024 Mar;102(1):183-211. doi: 10.1111/1468-0009.12684.
- ¹⁶⁶ Wolfenden L, Milat AJ, Lecathelinais C, Skelton E, Clinton-McHarg T, Williams C, Wiggers J, Chai LK, Yoong SL. A bibliographic review of public health dissemination and implementation research output and citation rates. Prev Med Rep. 2016 Aug 8;4:441-3. doi: 10.1016/j.pmedr.2016.08.006.
- ¹⁶⁷ Wolfenden L, Yoong SL, Williams CM, Grimshaw J, Durrheim DN, Gillham K, Wiggers J. Embedding researchers in health service organizations improves research translation and health service performance: the Australian Hunter New England Population Health example. J Clin Epidemiol. 2017 May;85:3-11. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2017.03.007.
- ¹⁶⁸ NSW Agency for Clinical Innovation. NSW Telestroke Service. Available from: https://aci.health.nsw.gov.au/statewide-programs/telestroke
- ¹⁶⁹ NSW Health. Leading Better Value Care. Available from: https://www.health.nsw.gov.au/Value/lbvc/Pages/default.aspx